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 Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “Commission”) submits this 

memorandum in support of its motion for default judgments, along with injunctive and monetary 

remedies, against defendants Ulrich Bock, Stephan Signer, and Andres Truppel. 

INTRODUCTION 
 
 Defendants Bock, Signer, and Truppel were active participants in a bribery scheme that 

involved the payment of scores of millions of dollars to top Argentine government officials, 

including two Presidents and cabinet ministers in two presidential administrations.  Comp. ¶ 1. 

 The defendants are former senior executives of Siemens Aktiengesellschaft (“Siemens”), 

a registered issuer of securities in the United States.  Comp. ¶¶ 2, 17.  The bribes were initially 

paid to secure a $1 billion government contract (the “DNI Contract”) for Siemens to produce 

national identity cards, or Documentos Nacionales de Identidad, for all Argentine citizens.  Id.  

Siemens was awarded the DNI Contract in 1998.  Id.  After a change in Argentine political 

administrations resulted in the cancellation of the DNI Contract, Siemens paid additional bribes 

in a failed effort to reinstate the project.  Id.  Later, after the company instituted an arbitration 

proceeding to recover its costs and expected profits from the canceled DNI Contract, Siemens 

paid more bribes to suppress evidence that the contract award had been obtained through 

corruption.  Id.   

 Over the course of the scheme, Siemens paid an estimated total of over $100 million in 

bribes, approximately $31.3 million of which were made after March 12, 2001, when Siemens 

became subject to U.S. securities laws.  Comp. ¶ 3.  As a result of the bribes it paid, Siemens in 

2007 received an award in arbitration against the government of Argentina of over $217 million, 

plus interest.  Id.  During the relevant period, defendants Ulrich Bock, Stephan Signer, and 
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Andres Truppel each had a role in authorizing, negotiating, facilitating, or concealing bribe 

payments in connection with the DNI Contract.  Id.   

 This action was commenced on December 13, 2011, with the filing of a complaint.  

Docket 1 (Ex. 1).  On June 27, 2012, pursuant to this Court’s order, defendants Bock and Signer 

were served by publication in the International Herald Tribune, along with delivery of the 

summons and complaint by mail and electronic mail to Bock’s and Signer’s German counsel.  

Docket 9.  On August 3, 2012, defendant Truppel was personally served with a copy of the 

summons and complaint at his home in Buenos Aires, Argentina.  Docket 18.  Defendants Bock, 

Signer, and Truppel have neither entered appearances in this action nor filed responsive 

pleadings.  The Clerk entered a notice of default as to defendants Bock and Signer on September 

19, 2012, Docket 17 (Ex. 2), and as to Truppel on April 29, 2013.  Docket 37(Ex. 3).   

 The SEC seeks a final judgment awarding the following relief: 

 1. A permanent injunction against defendants Bock, Signer, and Truppel prohibiting 

them from (a) violating Sections 30A and 13(b)(5) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the 

“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 78m(b)(5)], and Rule 13b2-1 thereunder [17 C.F.R. 

§ 240.13b2-1]; and (b) aiding and abetting violations of Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of 

the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A), (B)]. 

 2. An order that defendant Bock pay disgorgement of his ill-gotten gains in the 

amount of $316,452, along with prejudgment interest in the amount of $97,505. 

 3. An order that defendants Bock, Signer, and Truppel each pay a civil penalty in an 

amount to be determined by the Court pursuant to Exchange Act Sections 21(d)(3) and 32(c) [15 

U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(3) and 78ff(c)]. 
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 
 To assist the Court in determining the appropriate remedies as to the defaulting 

defendants, the SEC provides this excerpt of relevant allegations pled in its complaint, all of 

which are deemed admitted for purposes of this motion.  Finkel v. Romanowicz, 577 F.3d 79, 84 

(2d Cir. 2009). 

1.   The Defendants  

 Defendant Ulrich Bock is a German citizen.  Comp. ¶ 10.  From October 1995 through 

2001 he was the Commercial head of Major Projects for Siemens Business Services (“SBS”), the 

Siemens operating group responsible for managing the DNI Contract.  Id.  As the officer 

responsible for the DNI Contract, Bock authorized bribe payments to Argentine government 

officials.  Id.  Bock participated in a meeting in Miami, Florida, at which bribes to Argentine 

officials were negotiated and promised.  Id.  Bock also provided false testimony in two 

arbitration proceedings, one of which was filed in Washington, D.C., in an effort to conceal 

Siemens’ corrupt payments and recover its expected profits from the DNI Contract.  Id.   

 Defendant Stephan Signer is a German citizen.  Comp. ¶ 11.  Signer replaced Bock as 

Head of Major Projects for SBS in approximately July 2001.  Id.  From 2002 through at least 

2008, Signer was the Head of Business Operations and Finance at Siemens IT Solutions and 

Services, then a business division of Siemens.  Id.  Signer authorized the payment of bribes to 

government officials in Argentina.  Some of the bribes were paid to bank accounts in the United 

States.  Id.   

 Defendant Andres Truppel is an Argentine citizen.  Comp. ¶ 13.  From 1996 to 2002, 

Truppel was the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of Siemens S.A. (Argentina) (“Siemens 

Argentina”), a regional operating company wholly-owned by Siemens.  Comp. ¶¶ 13, 20.  
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Truppel regularly communicated with Argentine government officials regarding illicit bribe 

payments.  Comp. ¶ 13.  Truppel conveyed Argentine bribe demands to more senior officials at 

Siemens and urged them to make the bribe payments.  Id.  Truppel participated in meetings in 

Miami, Florida, and New York, NY, in which bribes to Argentine officials were negotiated and 

promised.  Id.  He caused Siemens to pay, and promise to pay, millions of dollars in bribes in an 

effort to retain the DNI Contract for Siemens.  Id.  Some of those bribes were paid via bank 

accounts in the United States.  Id.   

 2. The Argentina Bribe Scheme 

 In 1994, the Argentine government, headed by then President Carlos Menem, issued a 

tender for bids on a $1 billion contract to replace the country’s manually-created national identity 

booklets with state-of-the-art identity cards.  Comp. ¶ 25.  Siemens won the contract in February 

1998.  Id.  Throughout this period, bribes were sought by and paid to Argentine government 

officials, up to and including the President of Argentina and cabinet ministers.  Id.   

 In August 1999, after Argentina became enveloped in a debt crisis, President Menem 

suspended the DNI Contract while he campaigned for re-election.  Comp. ¶ 26.  Menem lost his 

re-election bid to Fernando De la Rua, who just one month later notified Siemens Argentina that 

the DNI Contract would be terminated unless Siemens agreed to renegotiate its terms.  Id.   

 In late 2000, defendant Bock and other Siemens managers met with payment 

intermediaries who had earlier been involved in paying bribes on Siemens’ behalf.  Comp. ¶ 28.  

The intermediaries advised Bock and his colleagues that in order to have the DNI Contract 

reauthorized Siemens would have to pay bribes that had earlier been promised to officials 

connected with the former Menem administration, as well as make additional bribe payments to 

members of the new De la Rua administration, including President De la Rua himself.  Id.  The 
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intermediaries told the Siemens officials that the past and present Argentine officials were 

demanding a total of $27 million in corrupt payments to secure the entry of a decree by President 

De la Rua reauthorizing the DNI Contract.  Id.   

 Bribery was openly discussed at Bock’s meetings with the intermediaries, as documented 

by handwritten notes and internal memoranda.  Comp. ¶ 29.  Bock’s notes from a November 22, 

2000, meeting with defendant Sergi refer to “topics . . . discussed in mutual agreement” with 

others, including Truppel.  Id.  The notes list the initials of Argentine officials and the bribe 

amounts due to each.  In total, the notes identify $50.5 million either due or paid to government 

officials in connection with the DNI Contract, including $16 million to former President Menem.  

Id.  A November 26, 2000, memorandum, written by the payment intermediaries recites that 

“[t]he commitment with future third parties is 27M.”  Id.    

 On January 3, 2001, Siemens entered into a $27 million sham consulting agreement with 

MFast Consulting AG (“MFast”), an entity controlled by the payment intermediaries.  Comp. 

¶ 30.  Bock co-signed the sham contract.  Id.  The MFast contract did not require MFast to 

provide any bona fide services.  Id.  Instead, the sole purpose of the contract was to provide a 

vehicle through which Siemens could funnel bribe payments to Argentine government 

officials.  Id.   

 Despite the efforts of Siemens and its affiliates to reauthorize the DNI Contract through 

the bribery of government officials, the De la Rua administration on May 18, 2001, cancelled the 

DNI Contract.  Comp. ¶ 33.  In July 2001, Siemens prepared to initiate an arbitration proceeding 

with the World Bank’s International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (“ICSID”) in 

Washington, DC, to recover its lost profits and out-of-pocket costs resulting from the 

cancellation.  Comp. ¶ 35. 
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 6 

 Notwithstanding the cancellation, the payment intermediaries advised Siemens that the 

Argentine government officials who had helped Siemens secure the DNI Contract still expected 

to be paid the bribes they had been promised but had not yet received.  Comp. ¶ 36.  The 

intermediaries also demanded that they be reimbursed for the bribes that they had advanced to 

government officials on Siemens’ behalf.   Id.  If the demands were not met, the intermediaries 

threatened to go public with corruption allegations against Siemens.  Id.   

 In order to suppress evidence of bribery from the ICSID arbitration, the defendants, 

including Truppel and Bock, continuously urged Siemens management to funnel more money to 

Argentine officials.  Comp. ¶ 37.  Truppel urged Siemens management to pay the outstanding 

promised bribes to Argentine officials, not only to avoid disqualification from the ICSID 

arbitration, but also to prevent potential physical harm to him and other Siemens employees in 

Argentina.   Id.   

 On July 6, 2001, Truppel and Bock met with the intermediaries in Miami, Florida, to 

devise a method of paying the $27 million in bribes that had originally been intended to be made 

via the then-terminated MFast contract.  Comp. ¶ 38.  Bock agreed to pay the intermediary 

$27 million to satisfy the bribery demands, and the intermediary gave instructions that the money 

be sent to his Swiss bank account within thirty days.  Id.  Following the Miami meeting, Bock 

advised Signer of the agreement to pay the $27 million.  Id.  Bock later tried to initiate the 

payment but was unable to persuade Siemens’ legal and compliance departments that the 

company had a legitimate commercial basis for making it.  Id.   

 In February 2002, defendants Signer and Truppel began applying pressure to Bernd 

Regendantz, the new CFO of SBS to authorize additional bribe payments to Argentina.  Comp. 

¶ 39.  Signer told Regendantz that Siemens had paid or promised approximately $70 million to 
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various Argentine officials to obtain the DNI Contract, and that $27 million remained owing, 

even though the contract had been cancelled.  Id.  Regendantz initially resisted, but eventually 

agreed to authorize the advance payment of up to $10 million in bribes, a portion of which were 

paid to bank accounts in New York and Miami.  Comp. ¶ 42. 

 The first tranche of the $10 million advance payment consisted of $5.2 million routed 

through an intermediary in Uruguay.  Comp. ¶ 44.  Truppel and Signer, with the help of Bock 

and subordinate SBS employees, generated a series of fictitious documents to facilitate the 

payment and to obscure the audit trail.  Id.  In the summer of 2002, Signer had Bock and an SBS 

subordinate sign a backdated consulting agreement with Meder Holding Corporation S.A. 

(“Meder”), a Uruguay-based front company.  Comp. ¶ 45.  Signer also instructed the SBS 

employee to sign backdated invoices from Meder totaling approximately $5.2 million.  Id.   

 In May 2002, Truppel sent Signer the Meder invoices, which were backdated to 2001 and 

early 2002.  Comp. ¶ 46.  The invoices falsely represented to be for “market development in 

Chile and Uruguay” and included wire transfer instructions to a Standard Chartered bank account 

in New York.  Id.  The funds were wired to the Standard Chartered account on July 22, 2002.  

Comp. ¶ 47.  

 In the first half of 2003, most of the promised $27 million still remained unpaid, and the 

payment demands on behalf of the Argentine officials continued.  Comp. ¶ 51.  In mid-2003, 

Truppel and others initiated a plan to have Siemens PTD, a division unrelated to the DNI 

Contract, funnel €9.6 million (approximately $11.8 million) through an intermediary company in 

Dubai.  Id.  By making the bribe payment through PTD, the payment could be falsely recorded in 

Siemens’ books and records as an expense incurred in connection with an active PTD project, 

rather than with the then-terminated DNI Contract.  Id.  Defendant Truppel provided PTD with 
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payment instructions for the €9.6 million to be transferred to bank accounts in the Bahamas.  

Comp. ¶ 53.   

 The second tranche of the $10 million “advance payment” authorized by Regendantz was 

made in 2004.  Comp. ¶ 55.  The payment was in the amount of $4.7 million and was supported 

by eight backdated, fictitious invoices.  Comp. ¶ 56.  Defendant Signer instructed an SBS 

subordinate to sign the phony invoices.  Comp. ¶ 57.  Payments to two of the companies 

identified in the invoices were made in February 2004 to bank accounts held at the International 

Bank of Miami. Comp. ¶ 58. 

 In May 2002, Siemens instituted an arbitration proceeding against the government of 

Argentina through the ICSID in Washington, DC, seeking $550 million in lost profits and 

expenses in connection with the DNI Contract termination.  Comp. ¶ 60.  In order to preserve its 

arbitration claim, Siemens suppressed the evidence of corruption through the false testimony of 

defendants Truppel, Bock, and others.  Id.  On February 6, 2007, Siemens was awarded 

$217,838,430 in the ICSID arbitration.  Comp. ¶ 61.  This award represented the economic 

benefit that Siemens’ bribery scheme had long sought to obtain.  Id.   

 On March 15, 2005, MFast initiated a private arbitration proceeding against SBS with the 

International Chamber of Commerce (“ICC”) in Zurich, Switzerland, to recover the remainder of 

the $27 million in bribe payments that it had been promised under the corrupt January 2001 

MFast contract.  Comp. ¶ 63.  Due to his involvement in the DNI project as Head of Major 

Projects, defendant Bock was called to testify in both the ICSID and MFast arbitration 

proceedings.  Comp. ¶ 64.  Instead of revealing the corruption and bribery surrounding the DNI 

and MFast contracts, Bock concealed the illicit bribery activity in Argentina.  Id.  In return for 

Bock’s silence, defendant Signer and others arranged for Siemens to pay Bock and a family 
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member approximately $316,000 from 2005 to 2007 through sham consulting agreements.  Id.  

On November 6, 2006, Siemens settled the ICC arbitration by agreeing to pay MFast 

$8.8 million.  Comp. ¶ 65.  The payment was made in January 2007.  Id. 

 
DISCUSSION 

 
 Defendants Bock, Signer, and Truppel were instrumental participants in a  prolonged 

bribery scheme of major proportions.  The scheme continued for more than a decade and 

involved tens of millions of dollars in bribes to officials at the highest levels of the Argentine 

government.  The defendants were duly served with the summons and complaint but have failed 

to plead or otherwise defend this suit.  The Court should enter final judgments against them by 

default under Rule 55(b)(2). 

 
 A. Factual Allegations in the Complaint are Deemed Admitted.   
 
 When default is entered, the defendant is deemed to have admitted all well-pled factual 

allegations in the complaint, and a party moving for default judgment is entitled to "all 

reasonable inferences in its favor." Finkel v. Romanowicz, 577 F.3d 79, 84 (2d Cir. 2009).  The 

well-pled allegations in this case, outlined above, demonstrate that Bock, Signer, and Truppel 

repeatedly violated Section 30A of the Exchange Act, and aided and abetted Siemens’ violations 

of Section 30A, by participating in a scheme to bribe foreign government officials.  The 

defendants violated Exchange Act Section 13(b)(5) and Rule 13b2-1 by knowingly 

circumventing Siemens’ internal controls and knowingly falsifying Siemens’ books, records, or 

accounts.  The defendants also aided and abetted Siemens’ violations of Exchange Act Sections 

13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) by knowingly providing substantial assistance to the company in its 

failure (i) to keep accurate books and records and (ii) to maintain a system of internal accounting 
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controls sufficient to ensure that transactions were executed in accordance with management’s 

authorization.   

 
 B. The Court has Subject-Matter and Personal Jurisdiction. 
 
 The Court has subject-matter jurisdiction and venue over this action pursuant to 

Section 27 of the Exchange Act, which gives the district courts of the United States “exclusive 

jurisdiction of violations of [the Exchange Act] or the rules and regulations thereunder.”  15 

U.S.C. § 78aa.  “Any suit or action to enforce any liability” under the Exchange Act “or to enjoin 

any violation” of the Act “may be brought in the district wherein any act or transaction 

constituting the violation occurred.”  Id.    

 This Court considered the jurisdictional reach of Section 27 in its Order of February 19, 

2013, granting the motion to dismiss of defendant Herbert Steffen.  Docket 33.  There the Court 

held that Section 27 “permits the exercise of personal jurisdiction to the limit of the Due Process 

Clause of the Fifth Amendment.”  Feb. 19, 2013, Order at 11 (quoting SEC v. Unifund SAL, 910 

F.2d 1028, 1033 (2d Cir. 1990)).  “[D]ue process requires that if a defendant ‘is not present 

within the territory of the forum, he [must] have certain minimum contacts with it such that the 

maintenance of the suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.’”  

Id. (quoting International Shoe v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945)).  The exercise of 

specific jurisdiction “requires that a defendant has ‘purposefully directed his activities towards 

the forum and the litigation arises out of or is related to the defendant’s contact with the forum.’”  

Id. at 12 (quoting In re Astrazeneca Sec. Litig., 559 F. Supp. 2d 453, 466-67 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)).  

If the defendants’ contacts with the forum state rise to this minimum level, the defendants may 

defeat jurisdiction only by presenting “a compelling case that the presence of some other 
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considerations would render jurisdiction unreasonable.”  Id. at 14 (quoting Burger King Corp. v. 

Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 477 (1985)). 

 In this case, each of the three defendants purposefully directed bribery-related activities 

towards the United States.  As set forth in the complaint: 

• On July 6, 2001, Truppel and Bock met with payment intermediaries in 
Miami, Florida, to devise a method of paying the $27 million in bribes 
called for under the then-terminated MFast contract.  Comp. ¶ 38.  At the 
Miami meeting Bock agreed to pay the $27 million within thirty days.  Id. 

• In early 2002, Signer applied pressure on Regendantz to authorize the 
$27 million in bribes.  Comp. ¶ 39.  Regendantz reluctantly agreed to 
authorize a down payment of $10 million of that amount, a portion of 
which was paid into bank accounts in New York and Miami.  Comp. ¶ 42. 

• In May 2002, in order to facilitate and conceal the bribes, defendant 
Truppel sent Signer a set of phony, backdated invoices -- which Signer 
had instructed a subordinate to sign -- identifying $5.2 million in false 
“market development” activities.  Comp. ¶¶ 45, 46.  The invoices included 
wire transfer instructions to a Standard Chartered bank account in New 
York.  Comp. ¶ 46.  The $5.2 million was wired to the Standard Chartered 
account on July 22, 2001.  Comp. ¶ 47. 

• In early 2004, Signer instructed an SBS subordinate to sign eight fictitious 
invoices intended to facilitate and conceal $4.7 million in bribes.  Comp. 
¶¶ 56-57.  Two of the invoices specified payment instructions to accounts 
at the International Bank of Miami.  Comp. ¶ 58.  Payments were made 
into the Miami accounts in February 2004.  Id. 

• Bock and Truppel provided false testimony in connection with an 
arbitration proceeding before the ICSID, which is based in Washington, 
DC.  Comp. ¶ 60. 

The defendants’ multiple contacts with the United States were both integral to the bribery 

scheme and purposeful.  Bock, Signer, and Truppel therefore had sufficient minimum contacts 

with the forum to support the exercise of personal jurisdiction.   

 Because these defendants chose to default rather than respond to the SEC’s complaint, 

they have failed to advance “a compelling case that the presence of some other considerations 

would render jurisdiction unreasonable.”  Burger King, 471 U.S. at 477. 
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 C. Damages Must be Established with Reasonable Certainty.   
 
 While a court must accept as true all factual allegations in the complaint, it may "conduct 

an inquiry in order to ascertain the amount of damages with reasonable certainty.” Greyhound 

Exhibitgroup, Inc. v. E.L.U.L. Realty Corp., 973 F.2d 155, 158 (2d Cir.1992); U.S. v. DiPaolo, 

466 F.Supp.2d 476, 483 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).  The need for an inquiry is limited, however, where 

the quantum of damages “is liquidated or susceptible of mathematical computation.’” Flaks v. 

Koegel, 504 F.2d 702, 707 (2d Cir.1974), quoted in, Nwagboli v. Teamwork Transp. Corp., No. 

08-Civ-4562, 2009 WL 4797777 at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 7, 2009).  In an enforcement action, the 

SEC does not seek “damages” in the traditional sense but rather injunctive relief, disgorgement, 

prejudgment interest, and a civil penalty.1  The monetary relief sought is thus often “susceptible 

of mathematical computation,” Flaks, 504 F.2d at 707, particularly where, as here, the amount of 

disgorgement is a fixed sum. 

 Here, the SEC seeks disgorgement from only one of the three defendants.  The complaint 

alleges that Ulrich Bock received an ill-gotten gain of approximately $316,000.  “In return for 

Bock’s silence, defendant Signer and others arranged for Siemens to pay Bock and a family 

member approximately $316,000 from 2005 to 2007 through sham consulting agreements.”  

Comp. ¶ 64.  This figure is deemed admitted, as are the other well-pled facts in the complaint.  

Finkel, 577 F.3d at 84.  This baseline amount is further supported and detailed in the declaration 

of Denise Hansberry, which more precisely establishes the amount of Bock’s ill-gotten gain at 

$316,452.   

                                                 
1   See SEC v. Lawbaugh, 359 F. Supp. 2d 418, 423 n.2 (D. Md. 2005) (no hearing required 
in SEC enforcement action because injunctive relief, disgorgement, prejudgment interest, and 
civil penalty are not damages under Rule 55(b)(2)). 

http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=350&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=1974112351&ReferencePosition=707
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=350&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=1974112351&ReferencePosition=707
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=350&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=1974112351&ReferencePosition=707
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=350&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=1974112351&ReferencePosition=707
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=350&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=1974112351&ReferencePosition=707
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 D. The Record Supports Issuance of a Permanent Injunction. 
 
 Section 21(e) of the Exchange Act authorizes the Court “to issue writs of mandamus, 

injunctions, and orders commanding ... any person to comply with the provisions of this title [or] 

the rules, regulations, and orders thereunder.”  15 U.S.C. § 78u(e).  Injunctions are an important 

tool in the enforcement of the securities laws.  As stated in SEC v. Shapiro, 494 F.2d 1301, 1309 

(2d Cir. 1974), “[t]he SEC cannot keep constant surveillance over” a defendant.  An injunction 

helps ensure a defendant will avoid future violations.   

 “The critical question for a district court in deciding whether to issue a permanent 

injunction in view of past violations is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the wrong 

will be repeated.” SEC v. Manor Nursing Ctrs., Inc., 458 F.2d 1082, 1100 (2d Cir.1972).   

In making this determination, the Court may examine the level of the defendant's culpability, 

whether the violations were systematic or isolated occurrences, whether the defendant has 

accepted responsibility, and whether, because of his occupation, the defendant might have an 

enhanced opportunity to commit further securities law violations.  SEC v. Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 

129, 135 (2d Cir.1998).  While a court must look beyond the mere facts of past violations and 

demonstrate a realistic likelihood of recurrence, fraudulent past conduct gives rise to an inference 

of a reasonable expectation of continued violations.  SEC v. Power, 525 F.Supp.2d 415, 427 

(S.D.N.Y. 2007) (citing Manor Nursing Ctrs., Inc., 458 F.2d at 655).  

 In this case, the above factors weigh heavily in favor of the issuance of permanent 

injunctions.  Rather than commit isolated violations, Bock, Signer, and Truppel participated in a 

massive and prolonged scheme to pay tens of millions of dollars in bribes to Argentine 

government officials at the very highest level.  They have not accepted responsibility for their 

actions and instead have refused even to defend this action.   
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 E. The Record Supports Disgorgement of Bock’s Ill-Gotten Gains.   
 
 Congress has expressly recognized the Commission’s right to disgorgement of ill-gotten 

gains.  “Once the equity jurisdiction of a Court has been invoked on a showing of a securities 

violation, the Court possesses the necessary power to fashion an appropriate remedy.  Thus, the 

Commission may request that the Court order certain equitable relief, such as the disgorgement 

(giving up) of illegal profits.”  H.R. Rep. 98-355, at 7 (1983) reprinted in 1984 U.S.C.C.A.N. 

2274, 2280.  This Court has “broad equitable power to fashion appropriate remedies, including 

ordering that culpable defendants disgorge their profits.”  SEC v. First Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 

1450, 1474 (2d Cir.1996).   

 The primary purpose of disgorgement as a remedy for securities violations is to deprive 

violators of their ill-gotten gains, thereby effectuating the deterrence objectives of those laws.  SEC 

v. Wang, 944 F.2d 80, 85 (2d Cir.1991).  “The effective enforcement of the federal securities laws 

requires that the SEC be able to make violations unprofitable.”  Manor Nursing, 458 F.2d at 

1103-04; SEC v. Commonwealth Chemical Securities, Inc., 574 F.2d 90, 102 (2d Cir.1978); SEC v. 

Tome, 833 F.2d 1086, 1096 (2d Cir. 1987) (the "paramount purpose” of “disgorgement is to 

make sure that wrongdoers will not profit from their wrongdoing").   

 The district court has broad discretion in calculating the amount to be disgorged.  First 

Jersey, 101 F.3d at 1474-75.  The disgorged amount must be “causally connected to the violation,” 

but it need not be figured with exactitude.  Id. at 1475.  The only requirement is that the 

disgorgement sought be a reasonable approximation of the profits causally related to the 

wrongdoing.  Id.   “Where disgorgement calculations cannot be exact, ‘any risk of uncertainty . . . 

should fall on the wrongdoer whose illegal conduct created that uncertainty.’”  SEC v. Lorin, 76 

F.3d 458, 462 (2d Cir. 1996).  “[T]he SEC must make at least a prima facie showing that the gains 
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are a reasonable approximation of profits causally connected to the wrongdoing in order to shift the 

burden of going forward to the defendants to demonstrate that the SEC's calculation is not a 

reasonable approximation.”  SEC v. Zwick, No. 03 Civ. 2742, 2007 WL 831812 (S.D.N.Y. 2007), 

aff’d, 317 Fed.Appx. 34 (2d Cir. 2008). 

 As discussed above, and demonstrated through the attached declaration, Bock received 

$316,452 in ill-gotten gains -- money paid via sham consulting agreements to ensure his silence 

regarding the corrupt nature of the DNI Contract.  Ex. 4.  The baseline approximation of 

$316,000 is deemed admitted by Bock’s failure to respond to the complaint.  Finkel, 577 F.3d at 

84.  The admitted, well-documented calculation of Bock’s ill-gotten gains provides a firm basis 

-- far beyond the “reasonable approximation” the Second Circuit requires -- for the disgorgement 

figure the SEC requests in the proposed Final Judgment. 

 
 F. Prejudgment Interest as to Bock. 
   
 Whether to order prejudgment interest, like the decision to grant disgorgement and in 

what amount, is left to the district court's “broad discretion.”  First Jersey, 101 F.3d at 1476.  

“Requiring the payment of interest prevents a defendant from obtaining the benefit of what 

amounts to an interest free loan procured as a result of illegal activity.”  SEC v. Moran, 944 F. 

Supp. 286, 296 (S.D.N.Y. 1996).  In this case, the SEC requests prejudgment interest in the 

amount of $97,505 (calculated under the rates of interest the Internal Revenue Service applies to tax 

underpayments and refunds) from May 31, 2007, the date of the last payment received by Bock in 

connection with the scheme, to the present.  See SEC v. Boock, 2012 WL 3133638, *5 n. 3 

(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 2, 2012) (“[I]t is well established that when disgorgement is ordered in an SEC 

initiated proceeding, the IRS underpayment rate is appropriate.”).   Calculations for prejudgment 

interest are attached.   Ex. 5. 
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 G. The Court Should Impose a Civil Penalty. 
 
 The Exchange Act authorizes the Court to impose civil monetary penalties for violations 

of the securities laws.  Boock, 2012 WL 31333638 at *6.  A monetary penalty is designed to 

serve as a deterrent against securities law violations, and courts have broad discretion to 

determine the appropriate amount of any penalty in light of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding each defendant’s role in the violation.  Id.  Congress incorporated penalties into the 

securities laws when it enacted the Securities Law Enforcement Remedies Act of 1990 (the 

“Remedies Act”).2  In enacting the Remedies Act, Congress explained its purpose in careful 

terms: 

 Since disgorgement merely requires the return of wrongfully obtained profits,  
 it does not impose any meaningful economic cost on the law violator.  The  
 Committee, therefore, concluded that authority to seek or impose substantial  
 money  penalties, in addition to the disgorgement of profits, is necessary for the  
 deterrence of securities law violations that otherwise would provide great  
 financial returns to the violator.  
 
 S. Rep. 101-337 (1990) reprinted in 1990 WL 263550 (Leg. Hist.).  The House Report struck 

the same chord:  “Disgorgement merely requires the return of wrongfully obtained profits; it 

does not result in any actual economic penalty or act as a financial disincentive to engaging in 

securities fraud.”  H.R. Rep. 101-616 (1990) reprinted in 1990 WL 256464 (Leg. Hist.). 

 With respect to their violations of Exchange Act Sections 13(b)(2)(A), 13(b)(2)(B), and 

13(b)(5); and Exchange Act Rule 13b2-1 defendants Bock, Signer, and Truppel qualify for 

second-tier penalties pursuant to Exchange Act Section 21(d)(3)(B)(ii).  Under that provision, 

“the amount of the penalty for each such violation shall not exceed ... [$60,000]3 for a natural 

                                                 
2  The Remedies Act is codified at Exchange Act Section 21(d)(3).  15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3). 
3  As required by the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996, the per-violation penalty 
amount is periodically adjusted for inflation.  For violations occurring after February 2, 2001, the 
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person ... [or] the gross amount of pecuniary gain ... if the violation ... involved fraud, deceit, 

manipulation, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement.”  15 U.S.C. 

§ 78u(d)(3)(B)(ii).  As set forth in the complaint, the defendants’ involvement in this extensive 

corruption scheme amounted to a deliberate or reckless disregard of regulatory requirements.  

Separately, with respect to the defendants’ violations of the anti-bribery provisions of Exchange 

Act Section 30A, the applicable penalty is $11,000 per violation.4  15 U.S.C. § 78ff(c)(2)(B).   

 The Court has the discretion to determine the number of violations committed by each 

defendant.  In making this determination, the Court may consider that the bribery scheme alleged 

in the SEC’s complaint comprised four separate payments, each of which may be regarded as a 

distinct predicate act.  The illegal payments were in the amounts of:  (i) $5.2 million in July 2002 

(Comp. ¶ 47); (ii) $11.8 million in December 2003 (Comp. ¶¶ 53-54); (iii) $4.7 million in 

February 2004 (Comp. ¶ 58); and (iv) $8.8 million in January 2007 (Comp. ¶ 65).  Defendants 

Bock, Truppel, and Signer each played a substantial and integral role in the bribery scheme 

during the period that all four payments were made.5   

 Courts evaluate several factors when deciding the amount of a penalty to impose, 

including: 

(1) the egregiousness of the violations; (2) a defendant's scienter; (3) the repeated 
nature of the violations; (4) a defendant's failure to admit wrongdoing; 
(5) whether a defendant's conduct created substantial losses to others; (6) a 
defendant's lack of cooperation with authorities; and (7) whether the penalty 
should be reduced due to defendant's financial condition. 

                                                                                                                                                             
applicable penalty under Exchange Act Section 21(d)(3)(B)(ii) is raised from $50,000 per 
violation to $60,000.  17 C.F.R. § 201.1002.  
4  After adjustment for inflation, this per-violation penalty amount is raised from $10,000 to 
$11,000.  17 C.F.R. § 201.1002. 
5  Defendant Bock retired from Siemens in 2001, but he continued to play an active role in 
the bribery scheme post-retirement, including by providing false testimony in the MFast and 
ICSID arbitrations.  Comp. ¶ 10. 
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Boock, 2012 WL 31333638, *6; SEC v. Bear Stearns, 626 F.Supp.2d 402, 407 (S.D.N.Y. 2009).  

In this case, the defendants’ refusal to acknowledge the jurisdiction of this Court, refusal to 

participate in the litigation, refusal to admit wrongdoing, and the extensive nature of their corrupt 

activity all warrant the imposition of a strong penalty. 

CONCLUSION 
 

 For the reasons set forth above, the SEC respectfully asks the Court to enter the proposed 

Final Judgments against Ulrich Bock, Stephan Signer, and Andres Truppel.  

  

      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
      ___/s/  Robert I. Dodge____________ 
      Robert I. Dodge  
      Paul Kisslinger 
      Assistant Chief Litigation Counsel 
      U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
      100 F Street N.E.   
      Washington, DC 20549 
      202-551-4421 (Dodge) 
      DodgeR@sec.gov 
 
       Counsel for Plaintiff Securities and  
      Exchange Commission 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 
 I, Robert I. Dodge, hereby certify that on this 25th day of October, 2013, copies of the 

foregoing document were served upon all counsel of record through publication on the Court’s 

Electronic Filing System. 

 
 
 
 
      ___/s/  Robert I. Dodge____________ 
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“2012 – Year of Homage to Dr. MANUEL BELGRANO” 

 

(Seal) 
Ministry of Foreign and Religious Affairs 
 

Note No. 10665/12 
 
Please quote DAJIN File No. 764/12 
 

Buenos Aires, August 17, 2012 
 
J. Troy Beatty 
Senior Counsel 
Office of International Affairs 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F. Street, N.E. 
Washington, DC 20549 
United States of America 
 
   I have the pleasure of writing to you for the purpose of touching upon the trial 
“SEC v. URIEL SHAREF, et al, UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, SOUTHERN DISTRICT of NEW YORK (Civil 
Action No. 11-CV-9073 (SAS), OIA REF: 2007-00943” (U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, c/Uriel 
Sharif et al s/Summons to a Civil Action), and in connection with what was previously stated in Note 
No. 9033 of 7/12/2012 from this International Legal Services Administration, we are sending evidence of 
service executed by the Civil, Commercial, and Administrative Federal District Court No. 1 of San Martín, 
Province of Buenos Aires, concerning Mr. Andrés Ricardo Truppel. 
 
   From the aforementioned evidence, it was inferred that the lawsuit against Mr. 
Andrés Ricardo Truppel was notified by the Officer of the Court on August 3, 2012. 
 
   Once we receive the evidence of notification of the lawsuit against Mr. Carlos 
Raúl Sergi, we will forward it to you for your information. 
 
   I remain as always, very truly yours, 
 
AH   (Signature) 
Enc. 3 pp.  HORACIO A. BASABE 
   Ambassador 
   Director of International Legal Services 
 

(Bar Code) 
Generated by DAJINGES BNO: 10770/2012 

File 764/2012 
  



FP 
COURT: CIVIL, COMMERCIAL, AND ADMINISTRATIVE FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT NO. 1 OF SAN MARTÍN 
 
(Seal: Civil, Commercial, and Administrative Federal District Court No. 1 of San Martín, Republic of Argentina, San Martín, B.A.) 
 
DATE OF RECEIPT ON NOTIFICATIONS 
 
Mr. Andrés Ricardo Truppel 
 
HOME ADDRESS: Monseñor Andrés Calcagno No. 936 Boulogne, Province of Buenos Aires, Republic of 
Argentina. 

DEFENDANT 
NATURE:………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
(Urgent, notify on the date, authorization of nonworking date and hour) 
 
SPECIAL REMARKS: 
 (Insanity Art. 626 – Special Injunction – Habeas – Art. 682/683/684 – Art. 339/141 – C.P.C.C. – Art. 129 C.P.P.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rez: �        Negative Notif.  
 
   Please be advised that, concerning file entitled “Diplomatic Letters Rogatory in 
court orders entitled ‘U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission c/ Uriel Sharif s/ Summons in a Civil 
Action’ s/ Official Notice,” which is being processed before this Court, the following decision has been 
issued, dated July 30, 2012, a true and complete copy of which is enclosed on a sheet of security  paper. 
 
Attached to this letter please find “Summons in a Civil Action” in Spanish, as well as in English, for a total 
of four (4) pages of security paper, and a “Summary Proceeding” in Spanish, as well as in English, for a 
total of fifty-two (52) pages of security paper. 
 
YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED. 
 
CLERK’S OFFICE, July 31, 2012. 
  (Signature) 
  Rafael Alberto Espinola 
   Clerk 
  

      COURTROOM (Delete what does not apply) 
        YES/NO   YES/NO     YES/NO 
  68,498  FP  1 3 
ORDER No. ISSUE No.  AREA JURISDICTION COURT SECRET COPIES PERSONNEL REMARKS 

 

 



(Stamp: SUSANA BEATRIZ, [illegible] ASSISTANT CLERK, OFFICER OF THE COURT) 

 

 

YOUR HONOR: 

 

ON …………………………………………………., 2012, AT ……………O’CLOCK, I MADE AN OFFICIAL VISIT AT THE 

AFOREMENTIONED ADDRESS, ASKING FOR …………………. INTERESTED PARTY ………………………. AND AN 

INDIVIDUAL, WHO ANSWERED MY CALL, IDENTIFIED HIM/HERSELF AS ………………………………….. AND WHO 

………………………………. LIVES AT ………………………….. WHERE I WENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF …………………… 

NOTIFYING HIM/HER ……………………………. SERVING HIM/HER …………………….. COPY …………….. OF 

IDENTICAL CHARACTERISTICS TO THIS ONE …………………………… COPY ………… HAVING PREVIOUSLY READ 

IT ……………….. AND, …………………….. UPON RECEIVING THE AFOREMENTIONED COPY, ……………………….. 

SIGNED IT. 

 

(Stamp: SUSANA BEATRIZ, [illegible] ASSISTANT CLERK, OFFICER OF THE COURT) 

  



File 3385/12 

(Stamp: [three illegible lines] August 8, 2012, International Legal Services Administration, File No. 769/12) 

Judiciary Power of the Nation 

San Martín, August 8, 2012 
 

TO DIRECTOR OF THE INTERNATIONAL LEGAL 

SERVICES ADMINISTRATION OF THE MINISTRY 

OF FOREIGN AND RELIGIOUS AFFAIRS 

Ambassador Horacio A. Basabe 

HIS  / OFFICE      

      I have the pleasure of writing to you concerning files 

entitled “Diplomatic Letters Rogatory in court orders  ‘U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission c/ 

Uriel Sharif et al s/ Summons in a Civil Action’ s/ Official Notice,” File No. 68,498, being processed 

before this Civil, Commercial, and Administrative Federal District Court No. 1 of San Martín, temporarily 

under my care, Clerk’s Office No. 3, in care of Dr. Rafael Alberto Espinola, located at Bonifacini Street 

No. 1770, Second Floor, in this city, in connection with the request filed at the DAJIN File No. 764/12, 

processed at that Administration, as a result of the Diplomatic Letters Rogatory issued in the 

proceedings entitled “U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission c/ Uriel Sharif et al s/ Summons in a 

Civil Action” being processed before the U.S. District Civil Court for the Southern District of New York. 

      In that connection, enclosed please find the originals of 

the official notification issued in these actions and of the relevant service of summons executed with 

positive results at the domicile located at Monseñor Andrés Calcagno No. 939, C.P. 1609, in the town of 

Boulogne, Province of Buenos Aires, all that for a total of two (2) sheets of security paper. 

      I remain, very truly yours, 

      (Signature) 

      ÓSCAR ALBERTO PAPAVERO 
      ACTING FEDERAL JUDGE 
[Lateral Stamp: OFFICIAL USE 
(Signature) 
RAFAEL ALBERTO ESPINOLA 
CLERK] 
  

(Stamp: MINISTRY OF FOREIGN RELATIONS 
INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND 
RELIGIOUS AFFAIRS 
RECORDS AND NOTIFICATIONS DESK 
INCOMING OUTGOING 
Aug. 8, 2012 
 
No. 7644  [illegible] 19.46)  



Judiciary Power of the Nation (Partial Stamp: RUBIO, ADMINISTRATIVE) 

File No. On August 3, 2012, at 11:10 [illegible], I made an official visit to Calle Monseñor Calcagno, No. 

936, in the town of Boulogne, where I was received by Ms. Natalia Gabriela Albarracín, who identified 

herself by way of her National Identification Card No. 30,798,431. I informed her about my assignment, 

and she stated to be a household worker and that Mr. Andrés Ricardo Truppel is living there with his 

wife, Ms. Patricia Fischer, and their four older children, [and] that Mr. Truppel is at work. Under those 

circumstances, I proceeded to notify her, serving her with a copy of the instrument with fifty-two 

attached copies, which are itemized in the instrument. Ms. Albarracín stated that she will deliver it to 

Mr. Truppel upon his return. In proof thereof, she signs them upon receipt and verification. 

 
(Signature)     (Signature) 
SUSANA BEATRIZ RUBIO 
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT CLERK 
OFFICER OF THE COURT 
 
(Lateral Stamp: OFFICIAL USE 
BEATRIZ RUBIO 
ADMINISTRATIVE [CUT OFF] 
COURT [CUT OFF]) 
 
Stamp: CIVIL, COMMERCIAL, AND ADMINISTRATIVE FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT OF SAN MARTÍN 
Aug. 6, [20]12 11:55 
JUDGE’S SIGNATURE: 
COPIES 
(Signature) 
RAFAEL A. ESPINOLA 
FEDERAL CLERK 
 

RECEIVED 
2012 SEP-4 PM 11:42 

OIA 
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·. USDCSDNY 
DOCUMENT 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ELECTRONICALLY FILED 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORl DOC#: / 

.. DATE F~LED: __ ?.}J;{~ 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Case No. 11-Civ-9073 (SAS) 
Plaintiff, 

v. 
CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 

URIEL SHAREF, et al., 

Defendants, 

I, RUBY J. KRAJICK, Clerk of the United States District Court for the Southern 

District ofNew York, do hereby certify that this action commenced on December 13,2011, 

with the filing of a summons and complaint. Pursuant to the Court's Order dated June 18, 

2012, the defendants ULRICH BOCK and STEPHAN SIGNER were served on June 27, 

2012, by publication in the International Herald Tribune, along with delivery of the 

summons and complaint by mail and electronic mail to the defendants' German counsel. 

Proof of service thereof was filed on July 11, 2012. 
. . 

I further certify that the docket entries indicate that the defendants ULRICH BOCK 
; . :: ~ 

and STEPHAN SIGNER have not filed answers or otherw1'se moved with respect to the 

complaint herein. The default of defendants ULRICH BOCK and STEPHAN SIGNER is 

hereby noted. 

Dated: New York, New York 
September)$_, 2012 



 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit 5 
 



USDC SONY 
DOCUMENT 
ELECTRONICALLY FILED 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YOR DOC#: ~II 

DATE FILED:4-\Q?9\\ ~ 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

URIEL SHAREF, eta!., 

Defendants, 

Case No. 11-Civ-9073 (SAS) 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 

I, RUBY J. KRAJICK, Clerk ofthe United States District Court for the Southern 

District ofNew York, do hereby certify that this action commenced on December 13,2011, 

with the filing of a summons and complaint. Defendant ANDRES RICARDO TRUPPEL 

was served on August 3, 2012, by hand delivery of the summons and complaint. Proof of 

service thereof was filed on September 25, 2012. 

I further certify that the docket entries indicate that the defendant ANDRES 

RICARDO TRUPPEL has not filed an answer or otherwise moved with respect to the 

complaint herein. The default of defendant ANDRES RICARDO TRUPPEL is hereby 

noted. 

Dated:)'Jew York, New York 
UPJiO 0?1, , 2o13 

RUBY J. KRAJICK 
Clerk of the Court 
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Exhibit 7 
 



U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 

Division of Enforcement  

Prejudgment Interest Report  

Ulrich Bock - Prejudgment Interest Calculation 
Quarter Range Annual Rate Period Rate Quarter Interest Principal+Interest

Violation Amount $316,452.00

07/01/2007-09/30/2007 8% 2.02% $6,381.06 $322,833.06

10/01/2007-12/31/2007 8% 2.02% $6,509.73 $329,342.79

01/01/2008-03/31/2008 7% 1.74% $5,732.00 $335,074.79

04/01/2008-06/30/2008 6% 1.49% $4,998.66 $340,073.45

07/01/2008-09/30/2008 5% 1.26% $4,274.15 $344,347.60

10/01/2008-12/31/2008 6% 1.51% $5,193.44 $349,541.04

01/01/2009-03/31/2009 5% 1.23% $4,309.41 $353,850.45

04/01/2009-06/30/2009 4% 1% $3,528.81 $357,379.26

07/01/2009-09/30/2009 4% 1.01% $3,603.17 $360,982.43

10/01/2009-12/31/2009 4% 1.01% $3,639.49 $364,621.92

01/01/2010-03/31/2010 4% 0.99% $3,596.27 $368,218.19

04/01/2010-06/30/2010 4% 1% $3,672.09 $371,890.28

07/01/2010-09/30/2010 4% 1.01% $3,749.47 $375,639.75

10/01/2010-12/31/2010 4% 1.01% $3,787.27 $379,427.02

01/01/2011-03/31/2011 3% 0.74% $2,806.72 $382,233.74

04/01/2011-06/30/2011 4% 1% $3,811.87 $386,045.61

07/01/2011-09/30/2011 4% 1.01% $3,892.19 $389,937.80

10/01/2011-12/31/2011 3% 0.76% $2,948.57 $392,886.37

01/01/2012-03/31/2012 3% 0.75% $2,930.55 $395,816.92

04/01/2012-06/30/2012 3% 0.75% $2,952.40 $398,769.32

07/01/2012-09/30/2012 3% 0.75% $3,007.11 $401,776.43

10/01/2012-12/31/2012 3% 0.75% $3,029.79 $404,806.22

01/01/2013-03/31/2013 3% 0.74% $2,994.46 $407,800.68

04/01/2013-06/30/2013 3% 0.75% $3,050.13 $410,850.81

07/01/2013-09/30/2013 3% 0.76% $3,106.71 $413,957.52

Prejudgment Violation Range Quarter Interest Total Prejudgment Total

07/01/2007-09/30/2013 $97,505.52 $413,957.52

Page 1 of 1
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